IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CITY OF CLEVELAND

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2010-CA-00971

MID-SOUTH ASSOCIATES, LLC

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE DESOTO CHANCERY COURT

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT

OF COUNSEL:

Thomas L. Kirkland (MSB # Andy Lowry (MSB # COPELAND, COOK, TAYLOR & BUSH, P.A. Post Office Box 6020 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 Telephone: (601) 856-7200

Facsimile: (601) 856-8242 Counsel for City of Cleveland

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. When the State Health Officer's final order in a Certificate of Need case is reversed by the chancery court but then ultimately affirmed, is the party defending the final order entitled to attorney's fees and costs under Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f)?
- II. After the chancery court reverses the State Health Officer, must the party defending the final order seek attorney's fees in its appeal from the chancery court, or is the proper procedure to seek them by motion after the chancery court's order is reversed?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Course of Proceedings Below

This is a case about awarding attorney's fees, arising out of a Certificate of Need ("CON") appeal that has already been resolved on its merits. In 2006, Mid-South Associates, LLC ("Mid-South") filed a CON application to relocate 75 nursing-home beds from Bolivar County to DeSoto County. *Miss. Dep't of Health v. Mid-South Associates, LLC*, 25 So. 3d 358, 359 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009). The City of Cleveland ("the City") joined the case as an affected party opposing the relocation. *Id.* at 360. In 2007, the State Health Officer of the Mississippi State Department of Health ("the Department") issued a final order disapproving the CON. *Id.*

This final order was reversed by the DeSoto Chancery Court (Cobb, J.) in January 2008, but the City and the Department appealed, and the Mississippi Court of Appeals unanimously reversed the chancery court's order and reinstated the final order of the Department, a decision which this Court declined to review on *certiorari*. *Id.* at 364; *see* 24 So. 3d 1038 (Miss. 2010) (table) (denial of review).

Having thus reinstated the final order, the City of Cleveland¹ on January 27, 2010 filed its motion seeking a statutory award of attorney's fees and costs pursuant to Miss.

¹The Department did not join the motion or seek attorney's fees, and thus is not a direct party to this appeal. Typically the Department does not seek fees in CON cases, as it is afforded representation by the Attorney General's office.

Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f). R. 18.² At the April 19 hearing of the motion, the chancery court denied same from the bench, and its order to that effect was entered May 12, 2010, incorporating its bench opinion. T. 31 (R.E. 3); R. 96 (R.E. 2). The City timely appealed to this Court. R. 97.

II. Relevant Facts

Mississippi law provides for an award of attorney's fees when the Department's final order in a CON matter is challenged on appeal but ultimately upheld. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f). Because the statute provides for appeal first to chancery court and then to this Court, there are three ways the final order can be affirmed: (1) the chancery court can affirm (and be upheld on any future appeal), (2) the chancery court can decline to rule within 120 days (and likewise be upheld if appealed), or (3) the chancery court can reverse the final order and itself then be reversed on appeal.

Number (3) is what actually happened in the present case. First, despite the statutory requirement of "the giving of a bond by the appellant(s) sufficient to secure the appellee against the loss of costs, fees, expenses and attorney's fees incurred in defense of the appeal," Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(d), the chancery court allowed Mid-South to effectively evade this requirement by allowing a risibly inadequate bond of only *five* hundred dollars, signing onto an order presented ex parte by Mid-South.³ R. 1 (R.E. 1);

²Citations to "R. __" are to the clerk papers; citations to "T. __" are to the hearing transcript.

³Why Mid-South was favored with having its order entered without the appearance or consent as to form of other parties, remains an unanswered question.

T. 10 (R.E. 3). Then, the chancery court ordered the posting of a more reasonable \$20,000.00 bond – on the exact same date, however, that the chancery court also reversed the Department. T. 10 (R.E. 3). (Mid-South *never* complied with the chancery court's order and *never* posted the \$20,000.00 bond. T. 17 (R.E. 3).) Finally, on further appeal, the chancery court's order was itself reversed unanimously, and the final order of the Department was reinstated. *Mid-South*, 25 So. 3d at 364.

Thus, once the final order was affirmed, the City's right to attorney's fees vested, and it filed its motion to recover them. The present appeal arises because the chancery court held that Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f) does not address possibility (3) above, but only (1) and (2); because the literal language of the statute does not award attorney's fees where (3) is the case, that court reasoned, no award is proper. This even though the final order was ultimately upheld, and *never mind* what the Legislature might have intended: "I don't intend to try to determine what the legislative intent was," the chancery court confessed. T. 26 (R.E. 3).

Further discussion would take us into the Argument of this brief, to which we now turn.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Statutes will not be construed so literally as to frustrate the intent of the Legislature, which has always been the paramount consideration of this Court. The chancery court's reading of Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f) frustrates the manifest intent of the Legislature, which is that a party which unsuccessfully challenges a CON final order must pay its opponent's attorney's fees. While the interpretation of this statute is an issue of first impression, this Court's jurisprudence has long held that "the manifest intent of the legislature will prevail over the literal import of the words."

Instead, the chancery court got the law backward, expressly disavowing any effort to discern legislative intent, and preferring a hyperliteral application of the statute, despite the lack of any reason why the Legislature would deny attorney's fees where the final order is vindicated on appeal, and despite the fact that the reversal of a reversal is legally the same as an affirmance. The chancery court's order should be reversed.

Nor is there any merit to Mid-South's argument that attorney's fees were waived by the City when it did not seek them in the Court of Appeals during the appeal of the chancery court's reversal of the Department's final order. The appellate courts do not as a rule engage in the fact-finding required to support an award of attorney's fees, and § 41-7-201(2)(f)'s text suggests that the chancery court is where the issue should be raised after a final determination on the merits.

Thus, the order below should be reversed and rendered, or alternatively, reversed and remanded for an award of reasonable attorney's fees and costs.

ARGUMENT

The issues on appeal are confined to statutory interpretation, a pure question of law with a *de novo* standard of review on appeal and no deference to the decision below. *Finn v. State*, 978 So. 2d 1270, 1272 (Miss. 2008).

- I. Attorney's Fees Shall Be Awarded Where the Final Order Is Ultimately Affirmed.
 - A. The Clear Legislative Intent Is to Award Attorney's Fees.

The issue in this case is how to interpret the portion of the CON Law providing for an award of attorney's fees. We begin with the statutory text in question:

(f) The court may dispose of the appeal in termtime or vacation and may sustain or dismiss the appeal, modify or vacate the order complained of in whole or in part and may make an award of costs, fees, expenses and attorney's fees, as the case may be; but in case the order is wholly or partly vacated, the court may also, in its discretion, remand the matter to the State Department of Health for such further proceedings, not inconsistent with the court's order, as, in the opinion of the court, justice may require. The court, as part of the final order, shall make an award of costs, fees, reasonable expenses and attorney's fees incurred in favor of appellee payable by the appellant(s) should the court affirm the order of the State Department of Health. . . .

Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(f) (emphasis added). This portion of the statute should be compared to subsection (2)(c) of the same statute:

In the event the chancery court has not rendered a final order within the 120-day period and an appeal is made to the Supreme Court as provided herein, the Supreme Court shall remand the case to the chancery court to make an award of costs, fees, reasonable expenses and attorney's fees incurred in favor of appellee payable by the appellant(s) should the Supreme Court affirm the order of the State Department of Health.

Id. at § 41-7-201(2)(c) (emphasis added).

What we have, then, is a mandate that the chancery court *shall* award attorney's fees if it affirms the final order, and that the chancery court *shall* award attorney's fees if the chancery court fails to rule on the final order and this Court affirms the final order. Moreover, as the emphasized language in subsection (f) makes clear, the chancery court has the discretion to award attorney's fees *regardless* of the outcome of the case.

This Court has never before interpreted the attorney's fees provisions of § 41-7-201(2)(f), leaving the Bar to interpret the law by its own best lights.⁴

The issue now before this Court is whether the Legislature intended to *disallow* an award of attorney's fees in the instance where the final order is reversed by the chancery court, but reaffirmed by this Court or the Court of Appeals, while otherwise mandating the recovery of those fees in *every other instance* where the final order is affirmed. No such absurd intention should be attributed to the Legislature.

Mid-South argued below to construe the statute with unfailing literalness so that no such award is intended, because no such instance is addressed by the statute. The chancery court agreed with Mid-South:

I'm going to try to follow the statute as I see it, as I read it, as I interpret it. The clear language of this statute, I don't intend to try to determine what the legislative intent was or impute some new additional meaning to the statute.

T. 26 (R.E. 3) (emphasis added). The chancellor thus stated a principle in *direct* contradiction to the consistent, decades-old teachings of this Court:

⁴As the exhibits in the record on appeal suggest, attorneys in CON cases have generally resolved the fees issue by agreement, without litigation.

The primary rule of construction of statutes is to ascertain and declare the intention of the legislature. And the court in construing a statute of this kind will seek to ascertain and give effect to the legislative intent.

It often happens that the true intention of the lawmaking body, though obvious, is not expressed by the language employed in a statute when that language is given its literal meaning. In such case, the carrying out of the legislative intention, which is the prime and sole object of all rules of construction, can only be accomplished by departure from the literal interpretation of the language employed. Hence it is a general rule that the manifest intent of the legislature will prevail over the literal import of the words.

State v. Necaise, 87 So. 2d 922, 925 (Miss. 1956) (emphasis added). Therefore, the chancery court simply erred in preferring a literal meaning over an examination of the legislative intent. If this Court agrees that the Legislature's manifest intent was that anyone unsuccessfully challenging a final order would be on the hook for attorney's fees and expenses, and that there is no reason to imagine that the Legislature intended to grant or deny fees based on the vagaries of an intermediate appellate decision, then that intent must be allowed to control over inartfully drafted statutory language.

"It is our duty to support a construction which would purge the legislative purpose of any invalidity, absurdity or unjust inequality." U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co. v. Conservatorship of Melson, 809 So. 2d 647, 660 (Miss. 2002) (quoting Quitman County v. Turner, 18 So. 2d 122, 124 (Miss. 1944)) (emphasis in Melson). On the chancery court's logic, the City was entitled to attorney's fees had the chancery court affirmed and then been affirmed by the Court of Appeals . . . but because of a legally erroneous and unanimously reversed decision by the chancery court, the City recovers nothing. That is

an "unjust inequality" and, we respectfully submit, "absurd" as well. There is no reason to believe that the Legislature intended such a result.

The absurdity of a literal application of the statute is easily demonstrated by a hypothetical example. Suppose that, on appeal to the chancery court, Mid-South had lost, and the final order of the Department had been affirmed. Suppose further that Mid-South had appealed to this Court and prevailed, reversing the chancery decision and reinstating the final order. On Mid-South's logic, because the City would have won at the *chancery* level, the City would have been entitled to an award of attorney's fees under § 41-7-201(2)(f) – despite the chancery court's having been later reversed! That *cannot* be the correct interpretation. The literal language cannot control to the point of subverting the contrary intent of the Legislature.

It is a "well-settled rule in Mississippi regarding statutory construction" that "[u]nthought of results must be avoided if possible, *especially if injustice follows*, and unwise purpose will not be imputed to the Legislature when a reasonable construction is possible." *Anderson v. Lambert*, 494 So. 2d 370, 373 (Miss. 1986) (emphasis added) (quoting *Gambrill v. Gulf States Creosoting Co.*, 62 So. 2d 772, 775 (Miss. 1953)).

Here, Mid-South claims to find a loophole whereby attorney's fees appear unavailable, despite the final affirmance of the Department's order, in the single instance where the chancery court erroneously reverses that officer and is itself reversed on appeal. But this Court does not stand to the Legislature's statutes as a tax lawyer does to the IRS code. Any such loophole is exactly the kind of "unthought-of result" that this

Court must seek to avoid, "especially" given the "injustice" of inability to recover even though the final order was ultimately affirmed.

In the chancery court, Mid-South relied merely upon the rule that "attorney's fees are not to be awarded unless a statute or other authority so provides." *Miss. Dep't of Wildlife, Fisheries & Parks v. Miss. Wildlife Enforcement Officers' Ass'n*, 740 So. 2d 925, 937 (Miss. 1999). But the City contends precisely that, properly construed according to the teachings of this Court on interpretation of the Legislature's intent, the statute *does* so provide.

Section 41-7-201 does not *require* the award of attorney's fees except where the final order is *affirmed*. The statute thus penalizes those who unsuccessfully challenge a CON final order. The manifest intent and public policy of the Legislature is to encourage parties to think twice before seeking to overturn a final order in a CON matter. That intent is not served if the party can evade the penalty by luckily securing an erroneous reversal at the chancery level, even if that chancery decision is then unanimously reversed on appeal – as was the case here.

Note also that the party challenging a CON *denial* can do so either in the Hinds Chancery Court *or* in the county where the proposed project would be located, as happened in the present case. Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)(b). The potential for judge-shopping here, especially in the common instance where a denied project might inure to the county's benefit, is obvious; it would be egregious to add a ruling that, where "home cooking" secures a reversal of the final order, no penalty of paying attorney's fees

attaches, even when the order is later affirmed.⁵ That would hamstring the legislative purpose of penalizing ill-founded appeals.

"[I]n construing statutes of doubtful meaning, the Supreme Court is required to consider consequences of a particular construction as to whether the result of such construction is good or bad." *Aikerson v. State*, 274 So. 2d 124, 127 (Miss. 1973) (overruled on other grounds, Conley v. State, 790 So. 2d 773, 796 (Miss. 2001)); quoted in Pegram v. Bailey, 694 So. 2d 664, 671 (Miss. 1996)). The policy effect of setting aside the legislative penalty for an unsuccessful CON appeal is a "consequence" that cannot be ignored and that burdens the Department and the courts. Where a statute's construction is doubtful, "it must be given that which will best effect its purpose, rather than one which would defeat it." *Thornhill v. Ford*, 56 So. 2d 23, 30 (Miss. 1952), quoted in Delta Reg'l Med. Ctr. v. Green, No. 2009-IA-00299-SCT, at ¶ 13 (Miss. July 22, 2010).

The only logical conclusion to be drawn from the statute is that the Legislature simply omitted to make its literal language conform with its evident intent, and that this Court's duty to carry out the legislative intent "can only be accomplished by departure from the literal interpretation of the language employed" in the statute:

Words or phrases may, however, be supplied by the courts and inserted in a statute, where that is necessary to obviate repugnancy and inconsistency in the statute, complete the sense thereof, and give effect to the intention of the legislature manifested therein. The rule prevails

⁵Of course, we make no insinuation that anything of the kind occurred in the present case.

where words have been omitted from a statute through clerical error, or by accident or inadvertence.

Claypool v. Mladineo, 724 So. 2d 373, 382 (Miss. 1998) (quoting Evans v. Boyle Flying Serv., 680 So. 2d 821, 825 (Miss. 1996)) (emphasis added). The Legislature's inadvertent omission to mention the instance of a chancery reversal that is itself reversed, provides a classic example of when this Court must look to the intention of the Legislature and not to language that is repugnant and inconsistent when read hyperliterally. "The letter killeth, but the spirit giveth life." Turner, 18 So. 2d at 126 (quoting 2 Cor. 3:6).

The Legislature did not intend any irrationally narrow scope for the award of attorney's fees, as is also shown by the "may award" language at subsection (2)(f). This plainly allows the chancery court to award attorney's fees, in its discretion, regardless of the outcome of the case. Given such a broad discretionary exception to the normal rule where each party bears its own attorney's fees, there is no reason to imagine that the Legislature intended the *mandatory* award of fees upon affirmance of the Department to be dependent upon different paths (affirmance or reversal by the chancery court) to the same outcome (affirmance of the Department).

Attorney's fees are to be awarded where the final order of the Department is affirmed on appeal – regardless of what may transpire en route to that eventual affirmance. The chancery court's order denying attorney's fees should be reversed.

Supreme Court shall have such jurisdiction as properly belongs to a court of appeals and shall exercise no jurisdiction on matters other than those specifically provided by this Constitution or by general law"); *Hill v. State*, 659 So. 2d 547, 552 (Miss. 1994) ("this Court cannot constitutionally make fact findings and weigh facts").

There is thus no basis for the suggestion that the City of Cleveland waived its entitlement to attorney's fees because it did not ask the Court of Appeals to award them. Obviously, until the mandate issued, the chancery court's order had not been finally reversed, and there was no entitlement to attorney's fees; and once the mandate did issue, the entitlement vested, and the award by the chancery court became mandatory, for the reasons shown in Issue I above.

We would also note that, insofar as it speaks to the issue, § 41-7-201(2)(c) suggests that the chancery court is the place to seek attorney's fees. The reference there to this Court's remand of a case for that purpose should not be exaggerated, as Mid-South urged the chancery court, into the draconian result that, because the Court of Appeals rendered and did not remand in the present case, the City's right to attorney's fees was extinguished. Nothing in the statute requires such a result, and there is no reason to impose it – particularly where, as here, the attorney's-fees provisions of the statute have never been interpreted by this Court, and the Bar has thus been left to practice according to its best estimate of the statute's meaning.

Rather, a post-mandate motion for attorney's fees was the best application of the statute. Until the Court of Appeals issued its mandate, the chancery court's decision had