IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

CITY OF CLEVELAND

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2010-CA-00971

MID-SOUTH ASSOCIATES, LLC

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE DECISION OF THE DESOTO CHANCERY COURT

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

OF COUNSEL:

John L. Maxey II (MSB No. William H. Hussey (MSB No. MAXEY WANN PLLC 210 East Capitol Street, Suite 2125 Post Office Box 3977 Jackson, MS 39207-3977 Telephone: (601) 355-8855 Facsimile: (601) 355-8881

Malenda H. Meacham (MSB No 301 Losher Street / P.O. Box 566 Hernando, Mississippi 38632 Telephone: (662) 429-9339 Facsimile: (662) 429-3239

Counsel for Mid-South Associates, LLC

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

Subsection (1) of the referenced statute provides for appeals of CON final orders pertaining to home health agencies to the chancery court but articulates no provision for the award of attorney's fees. Subsection (2) of the statute provides jurisdiction to the chancery court to hear appeals of CON final orders pertaining to health care facilities such as was sought by Mid-South below, and articulates three situations in which the chancery court either has the discretion or obligation to award "costs, fees, reasonable expenses and attorney's fees." Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-201(2). That statutory authority for the chancery court to determine the merits of Mid-South's underlying CON appeal and those situations expressing the intent of the Legislature with regard to the award of attorney's fees in such an appeal are articulated as follows:

The chancery court may dispose of the appeal in termtime or vacation and may sustain or dismiss the appeal, modify or vacate the order complained of in whole or part and may make an award of costs, fees, expenses and

attorney's fees, as the case may be; ... The court, as part of the final order, shall make an award of costs, fees, reasonable expenses and attorney's fees... should the court affirm the order of the State Department of Health.

Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-201(2)(f)(emphasis added).

The chancery court shall give preference to any such appeal from a final order by the State Department of Health in a certificate of need proceeding, and shall render a final order regarding such appeal no later than one hundred twenty (120) days from the date of the final order by the State Department of Health. If the chancery court has not rendered a final order within this 120-day period, then the final order of the State Department of Health shall be deemed to have been affirmed by the chancery court, and any party to the appeal shall have the right to appeal from the chancery court to the Supreme Court on the record certified by the State Department of Health as otherwise provided in paragraph (g) of this subsection. In the event the chancery court has not rendered a final order within the 120-day period and an appeal is made to the Supreme Court as provided herein, the Supreme Court shall remand the case to the chancery court to make an award of costs, fees, reasonable expenses and attorney's fees incurred in favor of appellee payable by the appellant(s) should the Supreme Court affirm the order of the State Department of Health.

Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-201(2)(c)(emphasis added). Thus, attorney's fees *may* be awarded by the chancery court to any party to an appeal of a CON final order as part of the chancery court's final judgment (unless the appeal pertains to a CON for a home health agency for which no award of attorney's fees is authorized); attorney's fees shall be awarded in favor of appellee as part of the chancery court's final judgment should the court affirm the order of the State Department of Health, and attorney's fees shall be awarded by the chancery court on remand from the Supreme Court should the Supreme Court affirm the order of the State Department of Health. Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-201.

The same statute confers jurisdiction upon the Supreme Court to hear appeals of any party aggrieved by the chancery court's final judgment on the CON appeal first heard there pursuant to the statute. In separate paragraphs, the statute provides for appeals from the chancery court to the Supreme Court as follows:

Appeals in accordance with law may be had to the Supreme Court of the State of Mississippi from any final judgment of the chancery court.

Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-201(1)(e). This paragraph of subsection (1) of the statute confers jurisdiction for the Supreme Court to hear an appeal of a final judgment of the chancery court on a Department CON final order pertaining to a home health agency, and, notably, provides no authority or instruction to remand to the chancery court for a determination or award of attorney's fees.

If the chancery court timely renders a final judgment in a CON appeal of a

Department final order pertaining to a CON for a health care facility (such as was sought

by Mid-South), the Legislature instructs, likewise:

Appeals in accordance with law may be had to the Supreme Court of the State of Mississippi from any final judgment of the chancery court.

Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-201(2)(f). This is the statutory provision that afforded the City of Cleveland the right to appeal the final judgment of the DeSoto County Chancery Court which vacated the Department final order denying Mid-South a certificate of need to relocate its nursing home from Cleveland to DeSoto County. Notably, this paragraph, like paragraph (e) of subsection (1) of the statute, articulates no express authority or

instruction to the Supreme Court for remand of the case to the chancery court to make a determination or award of attorney's fees.

In a separate paragraph, the Legislature does articulate the express instruction to the Supreme Court to remand CON appeal cases to the chancery court to make an award of "costs, fees, reasonable expenses and attorney's fees" in those cases where the Supreme Court affirms a statutorily-deemed affirmed Department CON final order (so deemed because of a chancery court's failure to render a final judgment within the prescribed 120-day period). Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-201(2)(c).

In the appeal now before this Court, it is undisputed that the DeSoto County Chancery Court rendered its final judgment within the prescribed 120-day period. Therefore, the remand provision of paragraph (c) of subsection (2) of the statute, *supra*, did not expressly apply to the facts attendant the appeal proceedings in that court; that chancery court timely rendered its final judgment to set aside the Department final order and made no award of attorney's fees to any party, although it was expressly provided authority in the subject statute to do so. Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-201(2)(f). The City of Cleveland, pursuant to paragraph (g) of subsection (2), perfected its appeal to this Court from that final judgment of the chancery court.

B. The DeSoto County Chancery Court rendered its final judgment in the CON appeal brought by Mid-South and its jurisdiction ended when the City of Cleveland perfected its appeal of that final judgment to this Court.

This Court's statement in *Rosson*, *supra*, expresses the general condition for all appeals; any appeal is of right granted by statute and is necessarily a review of a final judgment of the court below. *Id.*, 933 So.2d 969. "A final, appealable, judgment is one that adjudicates the merits of the controversy which settles all issues as to all parties and requires no further action by the lower court." *Walters v. Walters*, 956 So.2d 1050, 1053 (Miss. App. 2007). The decision rendered by the DeSoto County Chancery Court was, without question, the final judgment of that court, disposing of the entirety of issues before it. The chancery court set aside the Department final order that denied Mid-South a certificate of need and made no award of attorney's fees to any party.

The City of Cleveland timely perfected an appeal of that final judgment to this Court pursuant to the authorizing statute, Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-201(2)(g), conceding the finality of the chancery court judgment and transfer of jurisdiction to the Supreme Court (ultimately deflected to the Court of Appeals)². Upon its perfection of an appeal, the jurisdiction of the DeSoto County Chancery Court ended; the court's jurisdiction was transferred to the Supreme Court during the pendency of the appeal, as is the settled law of Mississippi: "This Court has held that the filing of a notice of appeal transfers jurisdiction of a matter from the lower court to this Court, and that the lower court is thus

After the chancery court set aside the Department final order denying Mid-South a certificate of need, Mid-South sought release from its appeal bond posted for the chancery appeal and was opposed by the City of Cleveland arguing the chancery court was without jurisdiction to act and admonishing Mid-South to take its questions about the appeal bond to the Supreme Court pursuant to *McNeil v. Hester*, 753 So.2d 1057, 1075, (Miss. 2000) (R.E. 1).

without the authority to amend, modify, or reconsider its judgment." *McNeil v. Hester*, 753 So.2d 1057, 1075 (Miss. 2000). In consideration of the City of Cleveland's motion for fees filed in the DeSoto County Chancery Court that immediately preceded the instant appeal, the chancellor found accordingly on the issue of its jurisdiction to make a determination or award of fees:

[The Court of Appeals] did not remand that back to me, and so, I don't think I have any jurisdiction to make an award of attorney's fees.

...I think my jurisdiction ended once I made my judgment in January ...I think my jurisdiction ended then. It went on to the Appellate Court. I don't have any jurisdiction during the time it's, you know, those issues are before the Appellate Court.

(Tr. 29-30)(R.E. 3). Thus, it is clear that the jurisdiction of the DeSoto County Chancery Court ended when its final judgment on the merits was appealed to this Court. How then, could the chancery court have jurisdiction to make an award of attorney's fees, or expand or modify its original judgment in any fashion?

C. The Court of Appeals opinion reversed and rendered the final judgment of the Chancery Court, reinstated the Department CON final order, and conferred no remand jurisdiction upon the Chancery Court to consider any issue between the parties.

In the instant case before the DeSoto County Chancery Court, the chancellor found the Court of Appeals had reversed and rendered that court's final judgment on the Department CON final order, reinstated the Department's final order, and assessed costs in the appellate court to Mid-South. *Miss. Dep't of Health v. Mid-South Associates, LLC*, 25 So.3d 358 (Miss. App. 2009). The chancellor observed:

And if you'll notice the ruling of the Court of Appeals, Paragraph—the very last paragraph, 22, the part that's in bold right before—right before they sign off on it, it says the judgment of the DeSoto County Court is reversed and rendered. They did not remand it to me; they rendered it to me.

And it also – the idea or the issue of the costs of the appeal is addressed by the Appellate Court. It said, all costs of this appeal are assessed to the appellee. That, usually –a statement to that effect about who the cost of the appeal are going to be addressed to is always the last line, usually, in their decisions. And usually, what I think they mean by that is just the costs in their court. If they do intend for attorney's fees to be awarded or not awarded, that is addressed in their decision; and they didn't make –they didn't address that.

They did not remand it to me, and so, I don't think I have any jurisdiction to make an award of attorney's fees. I don't know if -I mean because it was addressed by addressing the fact that the costs of appeal are assessed to the appellee, I think they addressed the issue by doing that.

I think [the Court of Appeals] addressed [costs] by stating that they said the costs of appeal would be assessed to appellee. They did not say anything about remanding it for me to determine the reasonableness of any other fees or whether those fees would be assessed. So I am denying your request.

(Tr. 28-29, 31)(R.E. 3). The Chancellor found the Court of Appeals conferred no remand jurisdiction upon the chancery court to make an award of fees or to make any other factual determination and yet addressed the issue of costs of the appeal in its decision. The chancellor went on to find that, if the City of Cleveland wanted to bring up the issue of assessment of attorney's fees, it should have brought it up during the appeal process. *Id.* (Tr. 29)(R.E. 3), as is discussed further below.

D. The Chancellor found that any question of whether the statute that authorizes attorney's fees in a CON appeal mandated such fees on the facts attendant this case was waived when the City of Cleveland failed to raise the issue in its appeal and the Court of Appeals

reversed and rendered the final judgment of the Chancery Court without remand.

The City of Cleveland raised no issue of its entitlement to attorney's fees in its appeal of the underlying final judgment of the chancery court in the Court of Appeals, neither asking for remand to the chancery court to consider the issue, nor seeking rehearing in the event the City felt the Court of Appeals should have so remanded the case. Thus, the chancellor found the issue had been waived:

...And I think most of the time, the Appellate Courts, their rulings are, if its not addressed on appeal, then that issue is waived if it's not addressed. So it was not appropriate, I guess, to address it with this Court when I made my ruling, but I do believe that if you wanted to bring the issue up, it should have been brought up during the appeal process.

...But because it was not brought up on appeal, I think it was waived. I think my jurisdiction ended once I made my judgment in January... I think my jurisdiction ended then. It went on to the Appellate Court. I don't have any jurisdiction during the time it's, you know, those issues are before the Appellate Court. Because it was not brought up on appeal, I think it was waived.

And then the Appellate Court has the obligation under the statute, I think, and under the inference that I would make, that if they're going to—if they want the Chancery Court to look at it further and to make a ruling with regard to the reasonableness of fees and the assessment of court costs, attorney's fees, or any other fees other than the ones that they made a ruling on, then they would have remanded it back to me.

And because they did not do it, and they did address in their little final statement that they reversed and rendered, not reversed and remanded, so that did not give the jurisdiction back to me. That just said, this is over. We've entered our final decision about it. The attorney's fees were not addressed.

(T. 29-30)(R.E. 3)(emphasis added). Mississippi law is clear that issues not raised on appeal, or raised for the first time in appellant's reply brief, will not be considered by the Court. "We will not consider issues raised for the first time in appellant's reply brief."

Tanner v. State, 20 So.3d 764 (Miss. App. 2009)(citing Sanders v. State, 678 So.2d 663)(Miss. 1996)).

The City of Cleveland argues that it doesn't matter that it failed to raise the issue in its appeal of the chancery court judgment because the City's "entitlement" to its fees did not vest until the mandate issued from the Court of Appeals reversing the chancery court's judgment. At that point, the City argues, "the award by the chancery court became mandatory." (Br. 15). Counsel for the City of Cleveland conceded at the hearing preceding this appeal, however, that, following an appeal of a chancery judgment to the Supreme Court, the award of fees is to be determined by the chancery court upon remand: "[A]s it [is] implied in Subsection C [of Miss. Code Ann. § 41-7-201(2)], that's something to be handled by the chief fact-finder upon remand. (Tr. 24)(R.E. 3). Thus, as the City of Cleveland has argued below, and in accordance with the chancery court's ruling now before this Court, *supra*, the chancery court had no jurisdiction to make any award while the appeal of its judgment was pending before the Court of Appeals, and was conferred no jurisdiction upon that Court's reversal and rendering of its judgment. The City of Cleveland simply failed to raise the issue in its appeal and it is clear the Court of Appeals never considered it. The Court of Appeals did not remand the case, as counsel

for the City concedes it believes is the implied duty of that Court pursuant to the relevant statute.

When the Court of Appeals reversed and rendered the final judgment of the chancery court below, it assessed "costs" of the appeal in that court to Mid-South but conferred no remand jurisdiction upon the chancery court to consider any fact issue such as would be required in a determination of attorney's fees available to the City of Cleveland under Miss. Code Ann. §41-7-201. Because no jurisdiction was remanded to the chancery court and because the City failed to raise the issue of attorney's fees in its appeal (or move for rehearing), the chancery court was either without power to grant the relief now sought by the City, or the issue was waived. Therefore, it is not even necessary for this Court to consider whether the relevant statute regarding attorney's fees applies to the facts of this case and this Court should affirm the decision of the chancery court to deny the City's motion for statutory award of fees and expenses.

Notwithstanding these reasons to deny the relief sought by the City of Cleveland herein on jurisdictional or waiver grounds, the chancellor below found the relevant statute clearly inapplicable to the facts of this case.

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